

[image: image]




AJS [image: images] Matchless


POST-WAR SINGLES AND TWINS


[image: images]




Other Titles in the Crowood MotoClassics Series





	BMW GS


	Phil West





	BSA Unit Singles


	Matthew Vale





	Classic Scooters


	Mick Walker





	Douglas


	Mick Walker





	Ducati Desmodue


	Greg Pullen





	Francis-Barnett


	Arthur Gent





	Greeves


	Colin Sparrow





	Hinckley Triumphs


	David Clarke





	HondaV4


	Greg Pullen





	Kawasaki [K]Z1000 and Z1R


	Tony Sculpher





	Moto Guzzi


	Greg Pullen





	Norton Commando


	Matthew Vale





	NSU


	Mick Walker





	Royal Enfield


	Mick Walker





	Rudge-Whitworth


	Bruce Reynolds





	Triumph 650 and 750 Twins


	Matthew Vale





	Triumph Pre-Unit Twins


	Matthew Vale





	Triumph Twenty One to Daytona


	Matthew Vale





	Velocette Production Motorcycles


	Mick Walker





	Velocette – The Racing Story


	Mick Walker





	Vincent Motorcycles


	David Wright





	Yamaha Road Racing Two Strokes


	Colin Mackeller





	Yamaha Street Bikes


	Colin MacKeller









AJS [image: image] Matchless


POST-WAR SINGLES AND TWINS


[image: images]


The Complete Story


Matthew Vale


[image: image]


THE CROWOOD PRESS




First published in 2016 by 
The Crowood Press Ltd 
Ramsbury, Marlborough 
Wiltshire SN8 2HR


www.crowood.com


This e-book first published in 2016


© Matthew Vale 2016


All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopy, recording, or any information storage and retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publishers.


British Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data


A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library.


ISBN 978 1 78500 196 3




PREFACE


The AJS and Matchless bikes that Associated Motor Cycles (AMC) produced immediately after World War II were the bikes that took the working class to work, the clubman to the race track, the trials rider to the course and the café racer to the coffee shop. With their range of unbustable big singles, quick and sporty twins, and an impressive racing range and pedigree both on and off road, the AMC ranges seemed destined to go on fulfilling their customers’ needs for all time.


But it was not to be: foreign competition, management complacency and poor product updating led to stagnant sales and ultimately failure of the business. However, the company’s reputation for producing sturdy, reliable, well engineered and dependable bikes means that there is a flourishing demand for the company’s products in the worldwide classic market. With good spares back-up and a solid, reliable image, the bikes attract the sort of rider today who is not afraid to ride them, and the thriving owners club organizes many national and international rallies which always have a large number of riders attending. The AMC factory may be little more than a memory, but its legacy, in the form of singles and twins travelling the roads of the world, lives on. This book looks at the post-war history of the range of bikes, both road and racing, singles and twins, produced by AMC between 1945 and the eventual end of production of bikes in the late 1960s.
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CHAPTER 1


THE HISTORY OF AJS AND MATCHLESS


Introduction


AJS and Matchless motorcycles were the stalwarts of the British bike scene in the 1940s and 1950s, with a range of heavyweight four-stroke singles and twins that met most tastes and also had a strong presence in on- and off-road competition. Unlike their competition, AMC was headquartered in East London where they produced their heavyweight four-strokes and competed directly against Midlands-based Ariel, BSA, Triumph and Norton.


In the 1960s, like the rest of the British motorcycle industry, they lost their way, and the road bikes succumbed to the pincer movement of small, cheap cars such as the Mini, and the reliable, cheap and easy-tolive-with Japanese bikes. But prior to that, their singles were the perfect bike for commuting and touring, as well as lugging sidecars to carry the family around, while their twins was as good as the competition from BSA and Triumph. Their racing pedigree was impeccable: in road racing directly after World War II they competed at the top Grand Prix class with the 500cc Porcupine, and they provided clubman racers with competitive 350cc and 500cc overhead camshaft bikes, which helped to fill race grids into the 1970s. Off road, their single-cylinder overhead valve sloggers were always neck-and-neck with BSA in trials and scrambles, and they even produced a world class motocross bike in the late 1960s and early 1970s. But again, a lack of new ideas, strong foreign competition and the rise of the foreign two-strokes eventually meant that the once great bikes were no longer competitive.
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This is what AMC’s post-war singles excel at: long distance touring. Here is Duncan Moss’s 1959 Matchless G3 on tour in Italy.
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The AMC twins can also tour. Here is Rob Swift’s 1955 AJS Model 20 just back from a 700-mile (1,125km) round trip for the 2015 Alternative Rally.
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The 650cc twins of the 1960s offered glamour and performance. Rob Swift’s 1963 AJS Model 31 CSR is close to perfection.





Back on the road, even today AJS and Matchless bikes are still remembered for their quality of engineering and finish – their stove enamelling of frame and tinware was second to none, and the bikes’ mechanical strength was legendary.


Today there is a thriving owners club and a wide range of owners, from those who owned one back in the day, and younger riders who appreciate the bikes’ honesty and faithfulness when they are looking for a classic to take rallying about the UK and abroad. But we shouldn’t forget that AJS and Matchless also competed at the performance end of the roadster market with their twins: fighting with BSA’s sporting A7 Shooting Star and A10 Road Rocket and Rocket Gold Star, and Triumph’s Tiger and Bonneville, were the top-of-the-range CSRs – which the factory claimed stood for ‘Competition Sprung Roadster’, but which all rockers knew stood for ‘Coffee Shop Racer’ – which could hold their own against the competition on the mean streets of 1950s and 1960s Britain.


Finally in the USA, the marques were again popular and competitive – possibly the most outstanding bikes were the ‘Desert Sleds’ – starting in the 1950s with the strong and reliable 500cc singles dominating cross-country racing, and for the 1960s the Norton 750cc engines mounted in lightweight Matchless scrambler frames: these were badged as Matchless or Norton, and were successful in events such as the Big Bear Run, where hundreds of bikes would set off on a race across several hundred miles of the desert wildernesses in the western USA. As a final gasp, when the roadster market was met by the Norton Commando, the AJS Stormer range of scramblers and motocross bikes was produced in small numbers for many years after the demise of the main factory.


Years after the AMC name and its products were finally put to rest, Les Harris bought the Matchless name from Dennis Poore and reintroduced the Matchless marque with the Rotax-powered G80, launched in 1987. While production of the G80 ended in the early 1990s, the AJS and Matchless names have left behind them a strong legacy which is still recognized today.
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The AMC competition models boasted practical good looks. Rob Swift’s US specification G80 CS from 1956 shows its clean lines and practical style.





This book will look at the history of the company and its time in its factory in Plumstead, East London, the great bikes it produced post-World War II, both road bikes and competition, and will chart the company’s decline and fall, and how it slowly lost its way during the late 1950s and early 1960s. One point of clarification needs to be made: in the text, bikes are referred to in general by the capacity class they belong to – for example, the engine capacity of a 1946 AJS 16M or Matchless G3L is 348cc, but in general terms the bikes were referred to as being a ‘350cc’ to reflect the class of bike they belong in. This convention is followed in the book, while true capacities are given in the specification tables and when describing the powerplants.


AJS and Matchless Pre-War


Both AJS and Matchless can trace their beginnings to the late 1800s, when their successful involvement in the booming bicycle trade, and the profits made in those endeavours, enabled both companies to move into the powered two-wheeler market as internal combustion engines became a viable power source. Both were independent companies up to 1931, when Matchless bought out AJS.


The roots of AJS can be traced back to the Stevens Screw Company Ltd, based in Wednesfield, near the Midlands town of Wolverhampton. The company was run by father Joe Stevens and his four sons, Jack (Albert John), Joe junior, Harry and George. The company’s interest in the internal combustion engine and powered vehicles started in 1897 when the company had imported an American Mitchell engine and built it into a motorcycle. While this bike was not put into production, the Stevens Screw Company used its experiences with the Mitchell unit to design and build engines for other motorcycle and cycle car manufacturers, as well as frames. In 1909 the company started to compete in various competitions, including trials and road races on Stevens-powered bikes, and the AJS company was formed, using the initials of the eldest son Albert John Stevens to badge the new products.


By 1911 the company had its own in-house design of motorcycle, powered by a 298cc four-stroke sidevalve single with a two-speed gearbox; this motorcycle competed in the 1911 Isle of Man TT. AJS’s debut resulted in two bikes finishing in fifteenth and sixteenth places, and production of the 298cc bike was started, with sales buoyed by the TT finish. As the business of getting the bikes into production took precedence over racing, AJS did not enter the 1912 TT, but it entered the 1913 event, and gained a creditable tenth place. With production firmly established and a new 349cc engine for the 1914 event, AJS won the 350cc Junior event at 49.58mph (79.77km/h), and took the first six places with five other AJS 350s.


The road bikes had developed into a 2¾bhp single based on the TT winner, and a 6bhp V-twin for the sidecar enthusiasts. Demand for the bikes took off, and AJS moved to larger premises at Graiseley House in Wolverhampton to meet demand. During the 1914–1918 war production was switched to the war effort, mainly producing components for the burgeoning aircraft industry. Development work continued on the motorcycle part of the business through the war years, and at the end of the war the 2¾bhp and 6bhp motorbikes were back in production with many improvements. The company continued to enter racers into the Junior TT, and with a newly developed, overhead valve, 349cc machine (nicknamed the ‘Big Port’) they were victorious in 1920, 1921 and 1922.


Through the 1920s AJS went from strength to strength. The bikes they produced were technically advanced for the time, and broke many records at various race tracks in the UK and on the continent, and their road machines were seen as fast and reliable, and high quality. They introduced chain-driven, overhead camshaft engines for their racers in 1927, and won the lightweight TT in 1930. However, the company was spreading its capital thinly with forays into sidecars, actual motor cars, the commercial vehicle market and even the production of radio equipment. When the global recession of 1930 followed the Wall Street crash of 1929, sales fell and the company had to go into liquidation.
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In 1915 AJS was addressing the big V-twin market. This is a 1915 Model D which uses AJS’s own engine.
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Back in 1912, Matchless’s big V-twin used bought-in motors. This is a JAP-engined Model 7.
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In the 1930s AJS produced some neat and sporting single-cylinder roadsters. This is a 1938 or 1939 AJS Model 26M – a 350cc twinport single.
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Not to be left wanting, Matchless also produced sporting singles in the 1930s. This is a 1937 Matchless G2M 250cc single.





London-based Matchless was the brainchild of talented engineer Henry Herbert Collier. In the 1880s Collier worked as an engineer in the Royal Arsenal in Woolwich, East London, and in his spare time built and sold a small number of bicycles under the name ‘Matchless’. The name was also used at around the same time by the Bicycle and Tricycle Supply Company, which had registered the name as part of a trademark for their cycles. However, this company appears to have been acquired by Coventry-based Singer in 1885, and by 1889 the right to use the ‘Matchless’ name had lapsed. This was lucky for Collier, who by 1891 had left the Arsenal and was running a successful laundry business in partnership with a John Watson under the name of ‘Watson & Collier’. Still based in Woolwich, Collier wanted to diversify and suggested the company go into the manufacture of bicycles; when Watson left the partnership in 1892 to concentrate on the laundry, Collier continued with the bicycle business, which continued to be named ‘Watson and Collier’.


Based in a rented shop in Plumstead, East London, Collier’s new business prospered, and by 1899 he had bought a shop for the business and a house for his family in Plumstead. His two sons, Henry (Harry) Junior and Charlie, showed an active interest in the business and in cycling, so Collier renamed the business ‘Henry Collier and Sons, Cycle Manufacturers’. In the same year he was inspired by an article in the magazine The English Machinist, which featured a design for fitting a proprietary Werner engine above the front wheel of a standard bicycle. While the design worked, it was obviously not very satisfactory, but, inspired by the prospect of a powered two-wheeler, the Colliers experimented with a number of engine and frame layouts to try to find the optimum design.


An abortive effort in 1901 fitted the engine between the saddle tube and the rear wheel but it suffered from overheating, so they then fitted an engine in the soon-to-be-conventional position inside the frame triangle, leaving the engine in the airstream. The engine was made by the Motor Manufacturing Company (MMC), a 2¾bhp 329cc single that was a development of a French De Dion unit. The bike was put into production in 1902; fitted from the factory with an oversized silencer, it quickly gained the nickname of the ‘Silent Matchless’. In 1905 the company expanded into a set of stables in Herbert Road, Plumstead, allowing more space for production to meet demand.


By 1912 the company had grown out of these premises, and made the move to a larger site in Burrage Grove, Plumstead, where they would remain until 1969 when the Plumstead works were closed. Production continued up until the Great War, with the range expanding with the JAP- (J. A. Prestwick) engined 6bhp V-twin in 1906; this brought a win in the singlecylinder class of the first Isle of Man TT race in 1907, and again in 1909. In 1911 the firm introduced a light two-seater car, and in 1912 it introduced its first home-built engine, a 488cc side-valve single, with a bore and stroke of 85.5 × 85mm. This engine powered a new 3½bhp model, but the model was discontinued by 1913 when the whole range became powered by V-twins.


During the Great War of 1914–18, production of some motorbikes for the military continued, but the majority of production comprised bayonets and aircraft parts. Post World War I the company initially produced two models, the 8B/2 ‘Victory’, a civilianized War Department machine powered by a 976cc JAP V-twin, and the Model H, a luxury sidecar outfit with a swinging-arm frame, electric lighting and three-speed gearbox; it was all chain drive, and featured quickly detachable wheels. In 1922 a Blackburnpowered single was added, with a 348cc side-valve engine; this was the first Matchless to have a saddletype fuel tank. For 1925, a new all-Matchless V-twin engine was introduced, a 50-degree, 982cc side-valve unit, which replaced the JAP units used previously.


As the 1920s progressed Matchless built itself a name in reliability trials, including winning a gold medal in the 1926 ISDT. It had an abortive venture into the car market with a light tourer, the Model K; sales of the car were poor, especially with competition from the major mass manufacturers of Austin and Ford, and production was terminated in 1925. The motorcycles were more successful, however, with strong sales of both solo and sidecar machines as well as the sporting singles and the big V-twins. As the decade continued, Matchless introduced their 500cc V/2 twin-port single, which gained them wins at the Brooklands 500 races, and in October 1928 rider Reg Barber won the RMN Spring Cup race; during the race he lapped the Brooklands course at over 100mph (160km/h), giving the marque their first Brooklands ‘Gold Star’.


In November 1928 the company went public, with the name Matchless Motorcycles (Colliers) Ltd. The move gave the company the cash it needed to expand the organization, and one of the results was the Matchless Silver Arrow, a 400cc side-valve, 26-degree, V-twin powered touring bike: sophisticated, smooth and torquey. Introduced in 1929, the bike’s narrow-angle engine was placed fore and aft in the frame and featured cantilever rear-frame springing. While not a fast bike, it complemented the other bikes in the range, which ranged from the Model R/4, a 250cc side-valve single, through 350, 500 and 600cc singles up to the big 990cc V-twins.
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In the inter-war years some exotic machines were produced. This is a 1930 Matchless Silver Arrow, with an across-the-frame, 26-degree 400cc V-twin.
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Even more exotic was the 1931 Matchless Silver Hawk, with a V4 engine.
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The AJS V4 racing bike was a 500cc grand prix contender produced in 1939. This is Sammy Miller’s immaculate example.





In 1931 the Silver Arrow was joined in the range by the Silver Hawk, which was essentially a pair of 26-degree V-twins as seen in the Silver Hawk placed side by side in the frame to give a close-coupled V4 engine. Despite the advanced design, the Silver Arrow was dropped in 1934, and the Silver Hawk was dropped by 1934.


After AJS was liquidated in 1931, Matchless bought up the remains of the AJS concern and moved the company’s assets to its Plumstead factory. The Stevens family continued to make a 250cc model under their own name, and continued to market the AJS car for a couple of years after the liquidation, but these efforts were not successful. However, the fortunes of AJS flourished under the stewardship of Matchless, with the value of the racing pedigree of the AJS badge being recognized. The reintroduction of the Cammy racing singles, and the development and racing of a V4, kept AJS firmly in the public view and helped to promote the AJS and Matchless road bikes. The single-cylinder overhead-camshaft ‘Cammy’ AJS clubman’s racer was reintroduced in 1933 to compete in the Isle of Man TT and other national and international races; this it did with some success, and the experience laid the foundations for the post-war AJS 7R and Matchless G50 ‘Boy’s Racer’ machines.


The 50-degree V4-engined racing machine was first exhibited at the 1935 Motor Show at London’s Olympia Exhibition centre. With a fore-and-aft configuration, the engine was designed by Bert Collier and sported overhead camshafts for each cylinder bank, chain driven with the chain running up between the two cylinders of each bank. The air-cooled engine had a capacity of 495cc with a bore and stroke of 50 × 63mm and two carburettors in the V of the engine, each feeding a pair of cylinders. With a frame and running gear similar to that of the existing cammy single, the new racer was run in the 1936 senior TT, but with no success. Development continued and a supercharged version appeared for 1938 – but again, success eluded the company; there were problems with overheating, and the power characteristics were unsuitable for the Isle of Man’s circuit.


The unit was further developed by factory engineer Matt Write for 1939: he added watercooling, and with a new Zoller supercharger the unit pumped out an impressive 55bhp at 7,200rpm – a very respectable 110bhp per litre. At that year’s TT the bike featured a new rear-sprung frame and finished eleventh and thirteenth, but at the Ulster Grand Prix it became the first to lap the Northern Ireland course at over 100mph (160km/h), and was leading the race when the forks broke, causing it to retire.
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As World War II approached, Matchless continued to produce its own V-twin. This 1939 39/X model shows Matchless’s own V-twin engine.
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AMC motorcycles continued through World War II. The Teledraulic front forks of this G3/L made them the dispatch rider’s favourite.
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The wartime G3/L has a 350cc motor based on the pre-war singles.





In the meantime, in the late 1930s Matchless was busy designing a new range of road machines, a range that would carry the company through World War II, and cement its reputation during the 1940s and 1950s. The ‘G’ range was introduced in April 1935 and was aimed at the owner who wanted a good road machine which could also be used in off-road competition. The range started off with two 350cc singlecylinder overhead-valve models: the road-oriented Model 35/G3, and the trials Clubman Special.


By 1937 the G range had grown to encompass nine models, all single-cylinder machines called the Model 37, which ranged from the single port 250cc G2, G2M and G2MC, the single port 350cc G3 and G3C, the 500cc single port G80, G80C and the 500cc twin port G90 and G90C. All these Clubman models were sold alongside the less sporting models in the range, usually referred to as the Touring Range and all side valve machines. The 1937 Touring range consisted of the single-cylinder 246cc Model 37/G7 and the 500cc Model 37/G5, and the 990cc V twin Model 37/X.


In 1937 Matchless Motor Cycles (Colliers) Ltd bought the manufacturing rights to Sunbeam Motorcycles from Imperial Chemical Industries (ICI) Ltd. With Matchless, AJS and now Sunbeam under the company wing, Matchless Motorcycles (Colliers) Ltd was renamed Associated Motor Cycles Limited – the birth of AMC. The Sunbeam name was later sold to BSA. AMC’s extensive range of side-valve and overhead-valve machines was to be curtailed with the advent of World War II in 1939, when the needs of the war effort and the armed forces became paramount and production of virtually all civilian machines was stopped across the whole of Britain’s motorcycle industry.


During World War II, AMC’s principle and most visible contribution to the war effort was in the production of motorcycles for the armed and civil forces, with the full production capability being turned over to the Matchless G3WO for 1940 to 1942, and the Matchless Model 41 G3/L models of 1941 to 1945. The only AJS-badged AMC bikes supplied to the armed forces were procured in ones or twos during 1940, at a time of great need when many of the Army’s bikes were left behind after the evacuation of the British Expeditionary Force at Dunkirk.


The War Office had ordered small quantities of the Matchless G3 347cc duplex-framed single between 1936 and 1939; these were in service at the outbreak of the war in 1939, and a 250cc model was tested in 1940. However, the definitive Matchless military motorcycles were the 350cc single-cylinder, girderforked G3WO and the telescopic-forked G3/L. Both bikes featured a single loop main frame and a rigid rear end, and coil-spring valve gear derived from the pre-war AJS 350cc single model, rather than the Matchless hairspring-type valve operation. Approximately 18,500 of the G3WO were supplied between late 1939 and early 1942, before it was superseded by the G3/L.


The G3/L was the result of an exercise carried out by the War Department to lighten the ‘standard’ military motorbike. The exercise was won by the Triumph 3TW 350cc twin, but the Coventry Blitz of November 1940 destroyed the Triumph factory along with all the drawings, most of the initial production run and all the production tooling. Matchless was able to step into the gap with their G3WO and then field their contender, the G3/L, which was lighter than the then G3WO and featured the all-important Teledraulic front forks. The G3/L was adopted as the War Department’s main overhead-valve motorbike, alongside the side-valve 500cc BSA M21, and over 58,000 were supplied.


The G3/L served with all the armed forces and was present in every theatre of war, where it earned itself a reputation for reliability as well as peppy performance – and when equipped with Teledraulics gave a much more comfortable and compliant ride than the girder-forked opposition. It remained in service with all the UK armed forces after World War II, although it was supplemented in some roles by the NATO standard specification Triumph TRW, a 500cc side-valve twin. The Ministry of Defence started to sell off surplus stocks of Matchless G3/Ls soon after the end of World War II, and these were often bought up in large batches by retailers such as London’s Pride and Clarks, who civilianized the bikes and sold them to the public at knock-down prices during the 1950s and 1960s. The last serving Matchless G3/L bikes were eventually ousted from the British forces in the late 1960s, when the all-purpose BSA WD B40 350cc single was introduced.


Post World War II, examples of the rigid- and spring-frame Matchless G3 were supplied to the Dutch armed forces, with some examples being as late as 1961. In addition, the civilian Matchless G3 was supplied in numbers to the UK Auxiliary Fire Service (AFS) during the 1950s, as part of the UK Civil Defence forces. Many of these machines, finished in khaki and with AFS badging, were released on to the civilian market during the 1970s and 1980s, often with virtually no mileage registered and minimal use.


Post-War Associated Motorcycles


Post-war AMC quickly went over to the production of motorbikes for the civilian market, with the Plumstead works commencing production of the Matchless G3L and the AJS 16M models as hostilities ceased in 1945. This pair of 350cc singles were identical apart from some mechanical details, paintwork and badges, and were based closely on the War Department Matchless Model 41 G3/L produced in such huge numbers for the Allied forces. The rigid frame harked back to the pre-war years, but the use of telescopic front forks, the Teledraulics, was a major advance, especially as all the important competition were only offering girder forks – this situation would change quickly, but AMC can claim to be the first British manufacturer to offer the public a mass-produced bike with telescopic forks. In the late 1940s the company introduced rear-sprung frames across all the range, albeit as options in some cases, and carried out evolutionary changes to the singles and twins as the years progressed. For 1946 the 350cc singles were joined by a pair of 500cc singles, the Model G18 and Matchless G80, although most machines produced went for export. From 1948, the singles were joined by a pair of 500cc twins, the AJS Model 20 and the Matchless G9, which featured rear swinging-arm suspension.


As the company entered the 1950s, the range continued with 350cc and 500cc singles in both road and off-road competition trim, along with the 500cc twins, which were produced in a single road specification until the road racing specification CS and CSR models arrived in 1958. The twins eventually spawned 600cc variants, the Model 30 and Matchless G11 in 1956, which were also produced in CS and CSR trim. The 600cc bikes were quickly replaced in 1958 by the 650cc AJS Model 31 and Matchless G12, which were supplied in standard, CS and CSR trim from their introduction.
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The early post-war singles were closely related to the wartime G3/L models. This late 1940s AJS Model 16 shows its rigid frame, along with the frontmounted magneto used on the AJS models.
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By the late 1950s the singles had evolved, albeit gradually. This 1959 AJS Model 16 has the swingingarm frame and coil ignition but still retains the family look.
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The swinging Sixties resulted in beauties such as this 650cc AJS Model 31, with lashings of extra chrome.





In 1958 the big four-stroke singles and twins that formed the AMC range through the 1940s and 1950s were joined by a new range of singles, nicknamed the ‘lightweight’ models, with the AJS Model 14 and Matchless G2 250cc models, joined by the 350cc AJS Model 8 and Matchless G5 in 1960.




Pre-Unit and Unit Construction Motorcycle Engines


All the AJS and Matchless four-stroke singles and twins made under the AMC banner had separate engines and gearboxes, a configuration generally known as ‘pre-unit’. The term came into being when BSA and Triumph introduced power units which they described as ‘unit construction’, when they combined the engine, primary drive and gearbox into a single set of engine cases on bikes such as the 1958 Triumph ‘21’ 350, the 1963 Triumph 650 twins, and the BSA A50 and A65 twins.


The incorporation of the engine, primary drive and gearbox into a single casting had a number of engineering advantages, including fixed engine and gearbox centres, a stiffer and lighter set of castings, no need for robust and heavy steel engine plates, fewer leak-prone joints, simple internal primary chain adjustment and a more compact unit. The cost of the reduced number of parts and the ease of building up a unit engine was lower than producing the three separate elements of a pre-unit, and the production of a bike was simplified and hence cheaper.


However, while the use of a single set of cases to hold the engine, primary drive and gearbox by BSA and Triumph was good, the three compartments were separate, and did not share oil (although on later Triumph twins the engine and primary chain case did share their oil); they were dry sump designs with a separate oil tank and its associated leakprone plumbing. This was in contrast to the new Japanese bikes, such as the Honda fourstrokes, which were usually true wet sump designs, sharing the engine oil with the gearbox and primary drive, with no external oil tank, and with all the oilways inside the engine. While many thought that sharing the oil throughout the whole engine unit would be a disaster, it actually worked well, especially as the gearbox got new oil at every oil change. Honda engines of the early and mid-1960s in particular gained a great reputation for reliability, despite their revvy nature and high power outputs. This innovation led to the previous generations of BSAs and Triumphs being retrospectively described as ‘pre-unit’, and the term is now used to describe any bike with separate engine, primary drive and gearbox. AJS and Matchless paid lip service to the unit-construction concept with the introduction of their ‘Lightweight’ family of 250cc and 350cc four-stroke singles in 1958. These had the appearance of ‘unit’ construction with their smoothly styled outer engine cases, but retained a separate gearbox and primary chain case; along with the other singles and twins in the range, AMC’s four-stroke ranges were of pre-unit construction to the end of production.
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The AJS and Matchless singles and twins all had separate gearboxes. This 1960s AJS Model 31 shows the relatively complex design and ‘bitty’ appearance of a pre-unit assembly.







[image: image]


BSA’s unit-construction engine and gearbox of the early 1960s was a neat, clean and streamlined design. Nicknamed the ‘Watermelon’ engine in the USA, it lacked the ‘bitty’ appearance of pre-unit bikes.
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The 1960s unit Triumph tried to keep some of the preunit appearance, giving the engine and gearbox a distinct identity while gaining the advantages of unit construction.
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In contrast, the 1960s Honda CB450 ‘Black Bomber’ makes no distinction between the engine and gearbox, and has a thoroughly modern appearance.








The Norton Takeover


After the war AMC bought Francis Barnett and James, and in 1953 bought Birmingham-based Norton, the famous company formed in 1898, with a racing pedigree equal to that of AMC and a reasonable range of road machines. To a great extent Norton was left to its own devices for much of the 1950s, with the AMC and Norton ranges competing directly in virtually all markets – the 350cc and 500cc road singles and the 500cc and 600cc twins in particular, but also with racing machinery, with Norton’s 350 and 500cc Manx models and the AMC 7R and G50s all targeting the clubman’s market.


There was further competition between the two factories in the lower end of the road bike market: when the twin-cylinder 250cc Norton Jubilee and 350cc Navigator were introduced in 1958 they impinged on the AMC Lightweight four-stroke range and the top end two-stroke powered bikes of the James 250cc and Francis Barnett 250cc and 350cc ranges. While the Jubilee and Navigator used a frame and forks derived from the Francis Barnett and the four-stroke Lightweights, there was little use of common components between the two factories until the gradual replacement of the AMC Teledraulic forks with the Norton Roadholder equivalents in 1964 – over ten years after the takeover.


In 1960 AMC had blocked Norton’s bid to buy a modern factory near its original Bracebridge Street premises, which Norton had inhabited since the turn of the twentieth century – and which was described by Bert Hopwood as a slum when he joined Norton in 1947. In July 1962 the AMC board announced that Norton’s Bracebridge Street factory was to be closed, and production of all Nortons was to move to London to join the parent company in Plumstead.




[image: image]


The mid-1950s Norton Model 7 was a direct competitor with AMC’s own 500cc twin.
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The Featherbed-framed Dominators competed with AMC’s sportier twins through the 1950s and 1960s.
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The 750cc Norton Atlas donated its engine to the Matchless G15 and AJS Model 33 ranges as well as the P11 ‘desert sleds’.





This sounded the death knell for the Manx Norton racers, but the two ranges of Norton twins continued to be produced at Plumstead, with the small 250 Jubilee, 350 Navigator and 400cc Electra, and the large capacity 500cc 88SS and 650SS models reappearing for 1964, along with the 750cc Atlas. The Norton 750cc motor was used in the top end AJS and Matchless machines from 1964, and also powered Matchless’s swansong model, the P11 ‘Desert Sled’ for the US on- and off-road desert racer. After the demise of AMC and the Manganese Bronze buyout of 1966, the names of AMC’s fourstroke bikes – AJS, Matchless and Norton – lived on, while James and Francis Barnett were consigned to history. The Norton name lived on under the Norton Villiers banner with the introduction of the 750cc Commando in 1967, while AJS was resurrected to badge the two-stroke Stormer range of off-road bikes.


Matchless had to wait a bit longer before it was back on the market. While it was used on the last gasp bikes of the late 1960s under the Norton Matchless name, the name died with the introduction of the Commando and was not used until Les Harris of Racing Spares bought the rights to the name in the 1980s. Harris used the name on their Matchless G80S – a 500cc single built using an Austrian Rotax engine and Italian running gear, which they produced after production of the Harris Triumph Bonneville finished. As a sporting four-stroke big single, this motorcycle was a fitting tribute to the Matchless name.


AMC Two-Stroke Lightweights – Francis Barnett and James


Although outside the scope of much of this book, the AMC Lightweight companies, Francis Barnett and James, were instrumental in building up a close relationship between AMC and Villiers; this had a bearing on the development and long life of the later AJS-badged, twostroke off-road bikes, and provided some components for the AMC ‘Lightweight’ singles. AMC had bought Coventry-based Francis Barnett in 1947, and Greet, Birmingham-based James in 1951, to give them a foothold in the popular lightweight commuter market.
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